
  
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
  
2. MINUTES

 2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the June 7, 2023 Plan Commission meeting
 Attachment
  
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS

 3.a. Consideration of Ordinance No. 2797 amending the Zoning District Map of the City of
Beloit for the property located at 2231 Trevino Court 

 Attachment

 3.b. Consideration of Resolution 2023-030 approving a Conditional Use Permit to allow retail
sales and service (entertainment-oriented) uses including liquor sales for the property
located at 601-625 Third Street

 Attachment

 3.c. Consideration of Resolution 2023-024 authorizing a Conditional Use Permit for the property
located at 555 Willowbrook Road

 Attachment
  
4. REPORTS

 4.a. Consideration of Resolution 2023-028 approving a one-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey
Map (CSM) for the property located at 1957 S McKinley Avenue in the Town of Beloit

 Attachment

 4.b. Consideration of Resolution 2023-029 approving a two-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey
Map (CSM) for the property located at 1947 S Paddock Road in the Town of Beloit

 Attachment
  
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS

Zoning Map Amendment - 400 Willowbrook, 2300 Colley Road, 2001 Gateway Boulevard
Easement - Natural Gas Easement - Krueger Park
Annexation - 5000 Block of County Road X
 

  
6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
BELOIT PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM 

Wednesday, June 21, 2023

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - June 21, 2023

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2017861/06-07-2023_Plan_Commission_minutes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2017110/PC_Report_-_ZMA-2023-06__2231_Trevino.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2017115/PC_Report_-_CU-2023-07__Ironworks_Events_Updated.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2016896/Staff_Report_CU-2023-06__555_Willowbrook_Rd__Silo_height_M-2_2nd_meeting.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2017120/PC_Report_-_CSM-2023-12__1957_S_McKinley__TOB_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2017133/PC_Report_-_CSM-2023-13__1947_S_Paddock_Road__TOB_.pdf


Sign Ordinance Exception - 2757 Prairie Avenue
 

  
7. ADJOURNMENT

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs
of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service, please
contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - June 21, 2023

2



 

1 | P a g e  
 

MINUTES 
PLAN COMMISSION 

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 
7:00 PM 

Wednesday, June 7, 2023 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
Chairperson Ramsden called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. Commissioners Ramsden, 
Anderson, Abarca, Flesch, Jacobsen were present. Commissioners Elliott and Janke and 
Councilor Day were absent. 
 

2. MINUTES 
2.a.    Consideration of the minutes of the May 17, 2023 Plan Commission meeting 

Commissioner Anderson move to approve the minutes seconded by Commissioner 
Flesch. Motion prevailed, voice vote (5-0). 

 
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

3.a. Consideration of a request from Wisconsin Power and Light for a ten-foot Natural 
Gas Line and Underground Communication Line Facilities Easement through City-
owned property located at 1611 Hackett Street 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Flesch moved to the easement, seconded by Commissioner Anderson. 
Motion approved, voice vote (5-0). 
 

3.b. Consideration of Resolution No. 2023-027 approving a one-lot Extraterritorial 
Certified Survey Map for the property located at 4611 E Ryan Parkway in the Town 
of Turtle 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 

 
Commissioner Jacobsen moved to approve the resolution approving a one-lot 
Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map, seconded by Commissioner Anderson. Motion 
approved, voice vote (5-0). 
 

3.c. Consideration of an amendment to the Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive 
Plan for the property located at 1006 Park Avenue 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Flesch asked how it will be screened and thought it would not be 
appealing for the residential neighborhood. Ms. Christensen said if it was outside 

3



 

2 | P a g e  
 

storage, they require it to be screened. Commissioner Anderson asked if it will help for 
future development in that area. Ms. Christensen said the college is trying to expand 
and open up the campus to the neighborhood, so they wanted to find another location 
for the maintenance building.  
 
Joe Stadelman, Angus Young Associates, indicated that the smaller orange box on the 
map is college-owned vacant land. Mr. Stadelman said that the college is putting 
together a campus plan master wide use plan, and Woodward Street is something that 
they talked about closing off.  
 
Chairperson Ramsden said he preferred to delay the item until the public hearing for 
4a was held. Chairperson Ramsden asked if the garage could be relocated with a 
conditional use permit or Planned Unit Development instead of a zoning change to PLI. 
Ms. Christensen said she has not looked into that, but guessed that it would need to 
be zoned C-3 or Industrial.  Ms. Christensen said it is not appropriate to use as a PUD.  
Commissioner Ramsden asked why that was, and Ms. Christensen explained that the 
PUD is to be used for multiple principal buildings on a zoning lot or if the development 
needed greater flexibility than was allowed under the traditional zoning. 
 
Chairperson Ramsden asked if the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Zoning Map 
Amendment are approved, would the redevelopment of the property be subject to 
review.  Ms. Christensen explained that Plan Commission would not review it, but Site 
Plan review is required.  Chairperson Ramsden asked if Architectural Review has the 
ability to say can they get rid of some concrete and plant more trees. Ms. Christensen 
said yes as part of site plan review, planting would be required in order to comply with 
the landscape code.  
 
Chairperson Ramsden asked if all the concrete is staying. Ms. Christensen said there is 
some additional landscaping.  Chairperson Ramsden asked if other projects would be 
rejected in a C-1 that would be accepted in this new zoning. Ms. Christensen said that 
this is being approved as a College use, and put on the monitors the permitted uses 
under the PLI zoning. Chairperson Ramsden asked if they could put in a classroom 
building or dormitory. Ms. Christensen said that college uses would be allowed. 
 
Commissioner Flesch asked if the support building would not be considered public use. 
Ms. Christensen said it is considered a part of the college.  
  
The Commission delayed action of this item until after the Zoning Map Amendment 
for the same property (Item 4a).  

 
4. REPORTS 

4.a. Consideration of Ordinance No. 3794 amending the Zoning District Map of the City 
of Beloit for the property located at 1006 Park Avenue 

4



 

3 | P a g e  
 

Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Chairperson Ramsden opened the public hearing. 
 
Joe Stadelman, Angus Young Associates, 2431 E Ridge Rd, said that is important to look 
at where the building is today.  The maintenance operations currently occur in the 
neighborhood, and he thinks it is better if this type of building is located at this location 
on Park Avenue.  Mr. Stadelman said there is an existing fence on the West and North 
and they will be screening a fence in the East and South, they will be visible from the 
street. Mr. Stadelman said that the property will appear more orderly and defined.  
 
Chairperson Ramsden closed the public hearing.  
 
Commissioner Anderson moved to approve the Zoning Map Amendment, seconded by 
Commissioner Flesch. Motion approved, roll call vote (5-0). 
 
Commissioner Flesch made a motion to approve the Comprehensive Plan Amendment 
from Item 3c, seconded by Commissioner Jacobson.  Motion approved, roll call vote 
(5-0) 

 
4.b. Consideration of Resolution 2023-024 authorizing a Conditional Use Permit for the 

property located at 555 Willowbrook Road 
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Chairperson Ramsden opened and closed the public hearing.  
 
Commissioner Flesch moved to layover, seconded by Commissioner Jacobsen. Motion 
approved, voice vote (5-0).  

 
4.c. Consideration of Ordinance No. 3793 amending the Zoning District Map of the City 

of Beloit for the property located at 2000 Gateway Boulevard  
Julie Christensen, Community Development Director, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Commissioner Abarca moved to approve the Zoning District Map, seconded by 
Commissioner Flesch. Motion approved, voice vote (5-0).  
 

5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS 
Ms. Christensen updated the Plan Commission on the actions taken by City Council related 
to a variety of items previously reviewed by Plan Commission. Ms. Christensen said the next 
Plan Commission meeting is scheduled for June 21, 2023. 
 

5



 

4 | P a g e  
 

6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
Julie Christensen outlined the future agenda items. 
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
Commissioner Ramsden moved to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Commissioner 
Jacobsen at 7:45 PM.   Motion carried, voice vote (5-0). 
 
 
 

  
Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

6



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  June 21, 2023 

Agenda Items:  3.a. 

File Number:  ZMA-2023-06 

General Information 

Applicant:  Matt Finnegan, on behalf of For Him, Inc. 

Owner:  For Him, Inc. A Wisconsin Corporation. 

Address/Location:  2231 Trevino Court 

Applicant’s Request/Proposal: Matt Finnegan has requested a Zoning Map Amendment from 
R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, to R-1B, Single-Family Residential District for the 
property located at 2231 Trevino Court.  This will allow for the construction of attached single-
family dwellings on the vacant parcel located at 2231 Trevino Court.  An attached dwelling unit 
is one that is joined to another dwelling unit on one or more sides by a party wall or walls. The 
planned building will contain two side-by-side dwelling units.  A recorded condominium plat will 
be needed to make each unit a condominium that could individually be sold, as opposed to a 
duplex in which each unit cannot be sold individually. Attached single family dwellings are not 
permitted in the existing R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, but are permitted in the R-1B, 
Single-Family Residential District. 

Staff Analysis 

Existing Site Conditions:  2231 Trevino Court is currently a vacant lot and is zoned R-1A, Single 
Family Residential District.   The existing lot is approximately 100 feet wide, 152 feet deep and a 
little over 15,000 square feet, all of which exceed the minimum requirements of R-1B (and the 
existing R-1A) zoning district.   

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  The subject property is surrounded by R-1A, Single Family 
Residential District zoned parcels, including a large vacant parcel to the east, and previously 
platted but now combined residential parcels to the north and south.  The next two lots to the 
west of this parcel on Trevino Court are developed with detached single-family residences. 
Knoll View Drive, the next street south is zoned R-1B, Single Family Residential District and 
largely developed with detached single-family residences. 

City of Beloit Comprehensive and Strategic Plan:  Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Planning Law, 
§66.1001 of the Wisconsin Statutes, was signed into law in 1999. The Comprehensive Planning 

7



law requires all cities, towns, and villages that regulate land use through land use ordinances 
(e.g. zoning) to adopt a Comprehensive Plan. This plan is intended to guide development and 
redevelopment over a 20-year timeframe. The law also requires that land use decisions be 
consistent with the plan.  All land use decisions made by the City of Beloit, including any actions 
regarding official mapping, local subdivision regulation, and zoning regulations, must be 
consistent with the plan. 

The future land use designation for this parcel in the Comprehensive Plan is Single Family 
Residential Urban.  Because the future land use designation for 2231 Trevino Court in the 
Comprehensive Plan is Single Family Residential - Urban, a Comprehensive Plan Amendment is 
not needed in order to approve this Zoning Map Amendment request. Both R-1A and R-1B 
zoning designations are consistent with the Single Family Residential - Urban future land use 
designation.   

If rezoned, the applicant intends to develop a property that has been vacant since originally 
platted in 1972.  This will meet two Strategic Goals:   Strategic Goal #1 - Create and Sustain Safe 
and Healthy Neighborhoods and Strategic Goal #3 - Create and Sustain Economic and 
Residential Growth.

Public Notices:  On June 7 and 14, 2023, notices were published in the Beloit Daily News and 
mailed notices were sent out on June 8, 2023.  One comment was received by a neighboring 
property owner who is opposed to this rezoning.  The e-mail is attached to the staff report. 

Zoning Map Amendment Findings of Fact:  Based on Section 2-304 of the Zoning Ordinance, 
the Plan Commission shall make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 

1. The existing use of property within the general area of the subject property. 
The existing land use is vacant land (since 1972), but existing development surrounding 
the property is compatible with a Single-Family Residential District, which is most 
appropriate for attached and detached single family uses.   

2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the subject property.  
Existing development surrounding 2231 Trevino Court includes compatible single-family 
residential uses. Generally, R-1A, Single-Family Residential District and R-1B, Single-
Family Residential District are similar, except that R-1B allows attached single-family 
(condominium) dwellings, whereas R-1A only allows detached single-family dwellings. R-
1B also relaxes some lot dimensional and setback requirements (e.g., R-1B allows for 50-
foot wide lots and 20-foot front and street-side setbacks whereas R-1A requires 70-foot 
wide lots and 30-foot front and street-side setbacks). 

3. The suitability of the subject property for the uses permitted under the existing zoning 
classification. 
The existing zoning classification is R-1A, Single-Family Residential District. Uses 
permitted in R-1A are compatible with this location; however, the property has been 

8



vacant since platted in 1972.  The proposed attached single-family dwellings are not 
permitted in the existing R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, but are permitted in R-
1B, Single-Family Residential District.  Staff believes R1-B is also a compatible zoning 
district for this property.  

4. The trend of development and zoning map amendments in the general area of the 
subject property.  
In 2018, a Zoning Map Amendment to change the zoning district classification from R-
1A, Single-Family Residential to R-1B, Single-Family Residential for 26 properties located 
on the 2100 and 2200 blocks of Knoll View Drive in the block south of Trevino Court was 
approved. The primary purpose of the 2018 amendment was to reduce front setbacks to 
20 feet (which many of the existing houses were already built to) so that the applicant 
(Matt Finnegan) could add a front porch to the house located at 2212 Knoll View Drive 
and meet setback requirements.  This amendment also brought other existing legal non-
conforming houses that did not meet the 30-foot setback required in R-1A into 
compliance with the Zoning Code.  While the reduced setbacks allowed in R-1B would 
provide flexibility to fit the attached single-family structure on 2231 Trevino Court, the 
Zoning Map Amendment is also intended to allow attached single-family dwellings as a 
permitted use.  Given that this and several adjacent parcels have been vacant since 
platted in 1972, staff believes it is appropriate to rezone this parcel to allow attached 
single-family uses as an alternate and compatible housing type with detached single-
family units.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Zoning Map 
Amendment to change the zoning district classification from R-1A, Single-Family Residential 
District, to R-1B, Single-Family Residential District for the property located at 2231 Trevino 
Court in the City of Beloit. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Zoning Map, Location Map, Application, Building Example Exhibit, Public 
Notice, Mailing List, Public Comment and Ordinance. 

9



Zoning Map

10



Location Map 

11



12



13



Building Example Exhibit

14



15



CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 

www.beloitwi.gov 
Equal Opportunity Employer 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 

June 8, 2023 

To Whom It May Concern: 

Matthew Finnegan on behalf of For Him, Inc. A Wisconsin Corp. has submitted an application 
for review and consideration for a Zoning Map Amendment to rezone 2231 Trevino Court in the 
City of Beloit from R-1A, Single Family Residential District to R-1B, Single Family Residential 
District. 

The following public hearings will be held regarding these applications: 

City Plan Commission:  Wednesday, June 21, 2023 at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the 
matter can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

City Council:  Monday, August 7, 2023 at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be 
heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

We are interested in your opinion. * 

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring 10 copies and 
submit them to City staff before the meeting begins.  You may also mail your comments to 
the attention of TJ Nee at 100 State Street or via email to planning@beloitwi.gov. You may 
also call (608) 364-6711 to provide your comments over the phone

16



17



18



ORDINANCE NO. 3797 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE 
ZONING DISTRICT MAP OF THE CITY OF BELOIT 

The City Council of the City of Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 

Section 1. The Zoning District Map of the City of Beloit, mentioned in the Zoning Code, Chapter 

19 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City of Beloit, is amended as follows: 

The following described land is hereby changed from R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, to R-1B, 
Single-Family Residential District: 

LOT 3 CSM VOL 38 PGS 98, 99 AND 100, CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN. SAID 

PARCEL CONTAINING 0.35 ACRES MORE OR LESS. A/K/A 2231 TREVINO COURT.

Section 2.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force upon its passage and publication. 

Adopted this ____ day of ___________, 2023. 

City Council of the City of Beloit 

________________________________________ 
Regina Dunkin, Council President 

Attest: 

______________________________________ 
Marcy J Granger, City Clerk-Treasurer 

Published this ____ day of _________, 2023 

Effective this ____ day of _________, 2023 

01-611100-5231- 

19



  REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  June 21, 2023 

Agenda Item:  3.b.

File Number:  CU-2023-07 

General Information 

Applicant:  The Beloit Club, LLC dba Ironworks Golf Lab 

Owner:  Hendricks Commercial Properties, LLC 

Address/Location:  601-625 Third Street-Ironworks Campus (property address is 701 Third Street) 

Applicant’s Request: The applicant has applied for a Conditional Use Permit to allow for Retail Sales and 
Service (Entertainment Oriented) including Liquor Sales, specifically the possession, sale and consumption 
of alcoholic beverages in the M-2, General Manufacturing District for property located at 601-625 Third 
Street.  If granted, this Conditional Use Permit will allow the applicant to obtain a licensed premises 
extension from the Golf Lab liquor license via contiguous space throughout the Ironworks Campus on an 
annual basis for events throughout the year. Note this proposed Conditional Use Permit adds one 
additional interior space of approximately 9,110 square feet on the Ironworks Campus to the Conditional 
Use Permit approved March 22, 2023 for the same uses. No other changes are proposed. 

Background 

The Zoning Ordinance states that Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) specifically Liquor 
Sales in the M-2, General Manufacturing District are only allowed if reviewed and approved in accordance 
with the Conditional Use Permit procedures. In order to allow the existing liquor license for the Golf Lab 
to cover special events on the Ironworks Campus, an extension of premises from the existing license is 
needed, which cannot be granted without a new Conditional Use Permit.  If approved, this Conditional 
Use Permit would supersede all prior Conditional Use Permits for the property:   

 2016 (CU-2016-04) for the Golf Lab 

 2021 (CU-2021-03/Council Resolution 2021-053) as amended in 2022 (CU-2022-07/Council 
Resolution 2022-167 for events along the “Spine Road” and on the east end of the Ironworks 
facility and indoor at 601 Third Street Suite 602-B (the location of the Deviate event). 

 2023 (CU-2023-03) for a licensed premises extension from the Golf Lab liquor license via 
contiguous space throughout the Ironworks Campus on an annual basis for events throughout the 
year. Note this current Conditional Use Permit will remain in place if the new (CU-2023-07) 
Conditional Use Permit is not approved.

Staff Analysis 

Existing Conditions:  The Ironworks Golf Lab located along the “Spine Road” at 625 Third Street has an 
existing Conditional Use Permit approved September 6, 2016 that allows an indoor golf simulation lab 
along with liquor sales, possession, and consumption within the golf simulation lab.   

20



Additionally, a second Conditional Use Permit was granted April 19, 2021 to allow up to five annual 
outdoor entertainment events with the possession, sale, and consumption of alcoholic beverages in a M-
2, General Manufacturing zoning district on property located at 625 and 701 Third Street.  The Conditional 
Use Permit allows these events along the “Spine Road” and on the east end of the Ironworks facility 
through an extension of premises of the Golf Lab. 

Then, on October 3, 2022, the Conditional Use Permit approved in 2021 was amended to allow 
entertainment events with the possession, sale, and consumption of alcoholic beverages in a M-2 General 
Manufacturing zoning district for the property located at 701 Third Street and the indoor space at 601 
Third Street, Suite 602-B, which allowed the applicant to use additional indoor space at Ironworks to host 
the Deviate event and obtain a Temporary Class B Liquor License.   

In March, 2023, the applicant was granted a new Conditional Use Permit that superseded the original 
Conditional Use Permit granted in 2016 for the Golf Lab, and the amended Conditional Use Permit from 
2022 (the 2021 Conditional Use Permit is already superseded by the 2022 Conditional Use Permit) related 
to events along the Spine Road and 601 Third Street Suite 602-B, to allow the applicant to obtain an 
extension of licensed premises of the Golf Lab liquor license via contiguous space throughout the 
Ironworks Campus for events throughout the year.  To allow this, the area of the premises extension 
needed to be contiguous in area and connected to the Golf Lab.  The total area included in the premise 
extension is 288,640 square feet (about 6.6 acres). 

Now, the applicant would like to add additional interior space of approximately 9,110 square feet on the 
Ironworks Campus to the Conditional Use Permit approved March 22, 2023 for the same uses. No other 
changes are proposed. The new space is located along the Spine Road and west of the Deviate event 
space. The total area included in the premise extension is now 297,750 square feet (about 6.8 acres). 

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  To the north is Beloit Box Board and Stainless Tank and Equipment 
zoned M-2, General Manufacturing. To the east is the Rock River. To the south is the Stateline Family 
YMCA zoned M-2, General Manufacturing. To the west is a city-owned parking lot zoned CBD-1, Central 
Business District-Core.     

Proposed Use/Extension of Premises Area:  The attached drawing shows the contiguous area connected 
to the Golf Lab in which the Conditional Use Permit is sought.   

Public Notice 
In addition to a Class 2 Newspaper Notice published in the Beloit Daily News on June 7 and 14, the 
attached Public Notice was sent out to the media and surrounding property owners.  The mailing area was 
expanded to include properties on the east side of the Rock River, similar to the March 2023 request.  

City of Beloit Comprehensive and Strategic Plan:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends General 
Industrial for the subject property. Section 66.1001(2m) (b) of Wisconsin Statutes specifies that 
conditional use permits do not need to be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

Municipal Utilities:  The subject property receives the full range of municipal services. 

Review Agent Comments: Because this is a minor addition to the previously approved March 22, 2023 
Conditional Use Permit, the application was not sent to City of Beloit staff and utility contacts. Previously, 
planning staff received the following comments:  

21



The City of Beloit Fire Department has no issues with this Conditional Use Permit provided that fire 
department access, fire protection features, and paths of egress are not obstructed or compromised as 
part of the planned events.  The attached document specifies some of the fire code requirements for 
special outdoor events. 

No other comments were received from City staff or utility contacts. 

Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall make a 
recommendation based on the following considerations: 

a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
 The proposed events will occur in a vibrant, downtown urban environment zoned for higher 

intensity uses that can include manufacturing.  This environment includes noise, glare, and heavy 
foot traffic. The proposed events that are outdoors will comply with the noise ordinance and the 
use of included indoor space will not impede the general public.  

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted;
 The Ironworks Campus is surrounded by a mix of manufacturing, office, and commercial uses.  The 

addition of the “Spine Road” and 601 Third Street Suite 602-B for events through prior Conditional 
Use Permits has not affected the adjacent properties, and the inclusion of additional interior 
spaces on the Ironworks Campus as well as outdoor spaces internal to the Campus are not 
anticipated to be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property, including those in the 
immediate vicinity.   All adjacent property owners have been notified of the request. 

c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood of the subject property;
 Unique entertainment uses are the ideal development to create downtown Beloit as a destination 

for residents and tourists.  The events held will increase visibility and foot traffic to adjacent 
businesses.  

d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of the surrounding property;
 The surrounding area is fully developed and proposed temporary events will not impede 

development. 
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so dissimilar 

or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate neighborhood that 
it will cause a depreciation in property values;
 This property is a unique adaptive reuse structure and not like any other adjacent properties. The 

proposed conditional use consisting of temporary events does not include changes to exterior 
architectural design or site layout.  Staff does not believe the conditional use will depreciate the 
property values of neighboring properties.

f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be available to 
serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use;
 The property already has the necessary utilities and facilities.  The existing nearby public and 

private parking lots include sufficient off-street parking, and the bike/pedestrian bridge further 
enhances the accessibility of the site. The applicant will need to coordinate with the Fire 
Department to ensure that fire department access, fire protection features, and paths of egress 
are not obstructed or compromised as part of the planned events.

g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and 
 Most attendees will be parking in nearby lots and walking to the events. The applicant will work 

with adjacent business owners as needed to avoid traffic issues. Off-street parking requirements 

22



are currently not met on site.  Despite this parking shortfall, no evident parking problems exist on 
the Ironworks campus.  The property’s size, location, and use are unlike any other in the City. Staff 
has used the Central Business District parking requirement, rather than occupancy or capacity-
based standards because of the differing hours of operation and location of the events from the 
rest of the campus. Off-street parking and loading spaces are not required for the Central Business 
District. Ultimately, staff believes that the addition of the proposed events will not affect the 
parking capacity on the Ironworks Campus because the events will not coincide with peak parking 
demand on the property. 

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance.
 The proposed use will comply with all other applicable regulations. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow 
Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) uses including Liquor Sales, including the possession, 
sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages in the M-2, General Manufacturing District for property 
located at 601-625 Third Street based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the following 
conditions: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) uses, 
including an indoor golf simulation lab and liquor sales, including the possession, sale and 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the Ironworks campus, in the area outlined on the 
attached exhibit and supersedes the 2016, 2022 and 2023 Conditional Use Permits approved for 
similar uses. 

2. The applicant shall obtain and retain all applicable liquor licenses and extension of premises while 
the conditional use is established and maintained. 

3. The Conditional Use Permit will be of no further force and effect on the portion of 625 Third Street 
(or as addressed in the future) once the planned and approved Henry Dorrbaker’s is operational 
and developed according to the Planned Unit Development (PUD) Master Land Use Plan as 
approved by the Beloit City Council on March 6, 2023 and any subsequent Final PUD plan 
approvals.   

4. Fire department access, fire protection features, and paths of egress will not be obstructed or 
compromised as part of the planned events.   

5. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan 
Commission by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning and Building 
Services may approve minor changes administratively. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 2023-030, Conditional Use Permit Decision Form, Ironworks Exhibit Maps, 
Ironworks Events Map, Legal Description, Application, Public Notice and Mailing List. 

23



RESOLUTION 2023-030 

APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW RETAIL SALES AND SERVICE (ENTERTAINMENT 
ORIENTED) USES INCLUDING LIQUOR SALES FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 601-625 THIRD STREET  

WHEREAS, the application of The Beloit Club, LLC dba Ironworks Golf Lab for a Conditional Use 
Permit allow Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) uses including the indoor golf lab and liquor 
sales, specifically the possession, sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages in the M-2, General 
Manufacturing District for property located at 601-625 Third Street having been considered by the Plan 
Commission of the City of Beloit, Wisconsin at a public hearing held for that purpose and due notice of 
said hearing having been given by publication as appears by the Proof of Publication on file in the office 
of the City Clerk. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, Rock County, 
Wisconsin does hereby grant a Conditional Use Permit to allow a Retail Sales  and Service (Entertainment 
Oriented) uses, including an indoor golf simulation lab and liquor sales, specifically the possession, sale 
and consumption of alcoholic beverages at 625 Third Street, Suite 100 of the Ironworks campus, and for 
property located at 601-625 Third Street to allow the applicant to obtain an extension of premises of the 
Golf Lab liquor license via contiguous space throughout the Ironworks Campus for the possession, sale 
and consumption of alcoholic beverages on an annual basis at events throughout the year in the City of 
Beloit, in the area described in the attached legal description and exhibit for the following premises: 

PART OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP DOCUMENT NO. 2065929, RECORDED IN 
VOLUME 37 ON PAGES 445-452 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS, BEING PART OF 
GOVERNMENT LOTS 2 AND 3 OF SECTION 35, TOWN 1 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST, OF THE 
4TH P.M., CITY OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN. CONTAINING 297,750 SQUARE 
FEET, MORE OR LESS.  

As a condition of granting the Conditional Use Permit, the Plan Commission does hereby stipulate 
the following conditions and restrictions upon the Conditional Use, which are hereby deemed necessary 
for the public interest: 

1. The Conditional Use Permit will be of no further force and effect on the portion of 625 Third Street 
(or as addressed in the future) once the planned and approved Henry Dorrbaker’s is operational 
and developed according to the Planned Unit Development (PUD) Master Land Use Plan as 
approved by the Beloit City Council on March 6, 2023 and any subsequent Final PUD plan 
approvals.   

2. Fire department access, fire protection features, and paths of egress will not be obstructed or 
compromised as part of the planned events.   

3. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan 
Commission by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning and Building 
Services may approve minor changes administratively. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the applicant is formally advised of the following additional ordinance 
requirements: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) uses, 

24



including an indoor golf simulation lab and liquor sales, specifically the possession, sale and 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the Ironworks campus, for the area outlined on the 
attached exhibit and supersedes the 2016, 2022 and 2023 Conditional Use Permits approved for 
similar uses. 

2. The applicant shall obtain and retain all applicable liquor licenses and extension of premises while 
the conditional use is established and maintained. 

Adopted this 21st day of June, 2023. 

PLAN COMMISSION 

Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Julie Christensen 
Community Development Director

25



Beloit Plan Commission 
Conditional Use Permit Decision Form

When reviewing an application for a conditional use, the local government must look to the requirements 
and conditions found in the local zoning ordinance and determine if the applicant meets those 
requirements and conditions.  The local government must provide substantial evidence supporting their 
decision to grant or deny the permit, and to impose additional conditions on the permit.  Substantial 
evidence means facts and information, directly relating to the requirements and conditions, that a 
reasonable person would accept in support of a conclusion.  Personal preferences and speculation are not 
sufficient forms of evidence.  All requirements and conditions imposed by the local government must be 
reasonable, and to the extent, practicable, measurable. 

Ordinance Requirements

List ordinance requirements related to the conditional use permit: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) uses, 
including an indoor golf simulation lab and liquor sales, specifically the possession, sale and 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the Ironworks campus, for the area outlined on the 
attached exhibit and supersedes the 2016, 2022 and 2023 Conditional Use Permits approved for 
similar uses. 

Substantial Evidence:  Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) uses including liquor 
sales for the indoor golf simulation lab requires a Conditional Use Permit in the M-2 district, and 
this condition articulates that the proposed uses are deemed appropriate at this location. 

2. The applicant shall obtain and retain all applicable liquor licenses while the conditional use is 
established and maintained. 

Substantial Evidence:  All alcohol sales and consumption require a liquor license per City 
regulations. 

Does the applicant meet all of the ordinance requirements?  No   Yes, after the steps above 

Permit Conditions 

A local government is authorized to impose conditions on the permit that relate to the purpose of the 
ordinance.  Conditions must be reasonable, and to the extent, practicable and measurable.  Conditions 
may limit the permit’s duration, transfer, or renewal. 

List conditions imposed on the permit:

1. The Conditional Use Permit will be of no further force and effect on the portion of 625 Third Street 
(or as addressed in the future) once the planned and approved Henry Dorrbaker’s is operational 
and developed according to the Planned Unit Development (PUD) Master Land Use Plan as 

26



approved by the Beloit City Council on March 6, 2023 and any subsequent Final PUD plan 
approvals.   

Substantial Evidence:  Condition established to avoid duplicative approvals for the same property. 

2. Fire department access, fire protection features, and paths of egress will not be obstructed or 
compromised as part of the planned events.   

Substantial Evidence:  Public safety condition to ensure compliance with applicable fire codes. 

3. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan 
Commission by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning and Building 
Services may approve minor changes administratively. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition to establish a process for future changes. 

Decision:  Based on the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the record in this matter, the permit is:

Approved, with the conditions stated above 
Denied, for the following reasons: 

27



Ironworks Exhibit Map (from March 2023) 

28



Ironworks Exhibit Map (New) 

29



Ironworks Events Map (From March 2023) 

30



Legal Description 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION – EVENTS SPACE AREA 

Part of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map Document No. 2065929, recorded in Volume 37 on Pages 445-452 

of Certified Survey Maps, being part of Government Lots 2 and 3 of Section 35, Town 1 North, Range 12 

East, of the 4th P.M., City of Beloit, Rock County, Wisconsin. 

Described as follows:  Beginning at the Northwest corner of Lot 2 of aforesaid Certified Survey Map 

Document No. 2065929;  

thence South 84°14’42” East along the North lines of Lot 2 and Lot 3 of aforesaid Certified Survey Map 

Document No. 2065929 extended a distance of 494.42 feet;  

thence North 26°46’33” East a distance of 283.42 feet; 

thence North 8°33’03” East a distance of 193.17 feet; 

thence North 7°27’24” East a distance of 102.66 feet; 

thence South 83°29’16” East a distance of 16.38 feet; 

thence North 5°47’37” East a distance of 246.26 feet; 

thence South 89°07’05” East a distance of 4.22 feet; 

thence North 1°58’49” East a distance of 168.23 feet; 

thence North 88°27’44” West a distance of 179.37 feet; 

thence North 1°04’38” East a distance of 23.61 feet; 

thence North 88°55’22” West a distance of 19.74 feet; 

thence North 1°07’56” East a distance of 39.64 feet; 

thence North 88°32’14” West a distance of 290.14 feet; 

thence South 1°47’07” West a distance of 56.21 feet; 

 thence North 88°35’16” West a distance of 38.79 feet; 

thence South 1°28’29” West a distance of 73.76 feet; 

thence South 88°34’58” East a distance of 244.37 feet; 

thence South 1°38’27” West a distance of 63.88 feet; 

thence North 88°21’33” West a distance of 13.25 feet; 

thence South 1°40’13” West a distance of 97.89 feet; 

thence North 88°36’22” West a distance of 66.06 feet; 

thence South 2°07’17” West a distance of 10.75 feet; 

thence North 88°41’28” West a distance of 166.02 feet; 

thence South 2°35’10” West a distance of 73.80 feet; 

thence South 86°59’09” East a distance of 86.05 feet; 

thence South 4°33’51” West a distance of 299.25 feet; 

thence South 82°57’42” West a distance of 46.72 feet; 

thence South 0°39’36” West a distance of 9.00 feet; 

thence North 87°57’37” West a distance of 7.12 feet; 

thence South 0°34’39” West a distance of 90.76 feet; 

thence North 85°38’07” West a distance of 82.60 feet; 

thence South 0°11’49” West a distance of 81.64 feet; 

thence South 89°59’02” East a distance of 32.07 feet; 

31



thence South 4°17’28” West a distance of 74.42 feet to Point “A”; 

thence North 84°05’41” West a distance of 124.63 feet to the easterly right-of-way of Third Street; 

thence South 0°36’34” West a distance of 63.11 feet to the point of beginning. 

Excepting therefrom:  Commencing at aforesaid Point “A”; thence South 84°05’41” East a distance of 

43.19 feet to the point of beginning; 

thence continue South 84°05’41” East a distance of 121.95 feet; 

thence North 5°40’00” East a distance of 126.53 feet; 

thence South 84°20’00” East a distance of 22.28 feet; 

thence North 5°40’00” East a distance of 5.65 feet; 

thence South 84°20’00” East a distance of 42.57 feet; 

thence North 5°28’17” East a distance of 48.88 feet; 

thence South 84°20’00” East a distance of 22.62 feet to Point “B”; 

thence North 5°41’01” East a distance of 80.76 feet; 

thence North 84°18’59” West a distance of 19.12 feet; 

thence North 5°15’08” East a distance of 74.08 feet; 

thence North 83°46’10” West a distance of 61.02 feet; 

thence South 4°25’18” West a distance of 6.26 feet; 

thence North 84°14’07” West a distance of 55.19 feet; 

thence North 5°09’25” East a distance of 60.65 feet; 

thence South 85°15’04” West a distance of 20.45 feet; 

thence South 5°20’10” West a distance of 156.21 feet; 

thence North 84°06’03” West a distance of 35.11 feet; 

thence South 5°39’22” West a distance of 72.49 feet; 

thence North 83°47’56” West a distance of 8.11 feet; 

thence South 4°11’27” West a distance of 32.50 feet; 

thence North 84°26’24” West a distance of 14.68 feet; 

thence South 4°11’27” West a distance of 125.85 feet to the point of beginning. 

Also excepting therefrom:  Commending at aforesaid Point “B”; thence North 85°49’15” East a distance 

of 55.11 feet to the point of beginning; 

Thence South 84°01’52” East a distance of 131.12 feet; 

Thence North 21°17’30” East a distance of 67.47 feet; 

Thence North 5°40’19” East a distance of 199.22 feet; 

Thence South 84°36’15” East a distance of 10.80 feet; 

Thence North 5°23’45” East a distance of 43.82 feet; 

Thence North 84°12’37” West a distance of 33.59 feet; 

Thence North 5°41’32” East a distance of 259.11 feet; 

Thence North 84°33’05” West a distance of 32.80 feet; 

Thence South 5°26’55” West a distance of 12.50 feet; 

Thence North 84°33’05” West a distance of 50.71 feet; 

Thence South 27°31’47” West a distance of 112.25 feet; 

Thence South 5°48’53” West a distance of 449.57 feet to the point of beginning. 

Containing 297,750 square feet, more or less. 

32



33



34



CITY HALL  •  10 0  ST ATE STRE ET•  
BELOIT ,  WI  535 11  Of f ice :  608 /364 -6700  

•  Fax:  608 /364 -6609  www.be lo i tw i . gov
E q u a l  Op p o r t un i t y  E m p l oy e r

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC  

June 8, 2023 

To Whom It May Concern: 

The Beloit Club, LLC dba Ironworks Golf Lab has filed an application for a Conditional Use 
Permit (CUP) to allow for Retail Sales and Service (Entertainment Oriented) including Liquor 
Sales, specifically the possession, sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages in the M-2, 
General Manufacturing District for property located at 601-625 Third Street.  If granted, this 
Conditional Use Permit will allow the applicant to obtain a licensed premises extension from 
the Golf Lab liquor license via contiguous space throughout the Ironworks Campus on an 
annual basis for events throughout the year. Note this proposed CUP adds one additional 
interior space of approximately 9,110 square feet on the Ironworks Campus to the CUP 
approved March 22, 2023 for the same uses. No other changes are proposed. 

The following public hearing will be held regarding this proposed Conditional Use Permit:  

Plan Commission: Wednesday, June 21, 2023, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the 
matter can be heard, in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street, Beloit, Wisconsin.  

We are interested in your opinion.  

Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring 10 copies and submit 
them to City staff before the meeting begins.  You may also mail your comments to the 
attention of TJ Nee at 100 State Street or via email to planning@beloitwi.gov. You may also 
call (608) 364-6711 to provide your comments over the phone.  

35



36



37



 
 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  June 21, 2023 

Agenda Item:  3.c. 

File Number:  CU-2023-05 

General Information 

 
Applicant:  City of Beloit Water Resources Department  
Owner:  City of Beloit 
Address/Location:  555 Willowbrook Road (Water Pollution Control Facility (WPCF)) 
Applicant’s Request: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for an 84-foot tall biosolids silo at 555 
Willowbrook Road  
 
Request Details  

On January 18, 2022, City Council approved the applicant’s Conditional Use Permit for an 84-
Foot Tall biosolids silo and an architectural design of a new building. (see attached City Council 
Resolution 2022-006). Since that approval, building, site, and architectural review plans have 
been approved. Building permits have been issued, and construction is underway. On the 
approved resolution, Ordinance Requirement number two requires that the applicant has 
“twelve (12) months from the date of CUP issuance to commence use of the property, or the 
CUP shall lapse and be of no further effect.” The purpose for requesting this new CUP is for the 
height of the biosolids silo to exceed 75 feet in M-2, because the silo has not yet been 
completed. Water Resources is hoping to start construction on the silo in the summer of 2023. 
The applicant did not establish or request an extension for the Conditional Use within 12 
months after the approval. The applicant is requesting a new CUP to allow them to finish 
construction of the silo and commence operations.  

 
Background 

A change in how the City of Beloit Water Resources Division handles biosolids requires new 
equipment and the construction of a new building to house the drying equipment and truck 
loading area. Regulation changes require an increase in sludge hauling. As a proactive measure, 
Water Resources will dry biosolids on site and store them in the biosolids silo. Sludge drying 
creates a Class A biosolid that can be used as fertilizer with fewer restrictions, and drying 
reduces the volume of disposal by about 80 percent. Section 7.3 of the Zoning Ordinance states 
that the maximum height restrictions in a zoning district (e.g., 75 feet in M-2) may be exceeded 
if reviewed and approved in accordance with the Conditional Use Permit review procedures.  
 

 

 

38



 Staff Analysis 

Existing Conditions:  The subject property is a 60-acre parcel home to the Water Pollution 
Control Facility on the southeast side of the City just west of I-90. It is zoned M-2, General 
Manufacturing District. 

 
Location and Architectural Design: The new building housing the biosolids dewatering system 
and dryer will be 10,891 square-feet, setback about 1,000 feet from Willowbrook Road. The 
project also includes a new access road, site drainage system, and the biosolids storage silo. The 
proposed storage silo will be 84-feet tall. The maximum height for a structure in the M-2 zoning 
district is 75 feet, requiring a conditional use permit for the silo portion of the project.  
 
The exterior of the building will be constructed using precast wall panels with a brick form liner 
finish, EPDM (rubber membrane) flat roofing, galvanized metal doors, and aluminum windows. 
Wall pack lights will be secured to the exterior walls and overhead lighting will be added to light 
the paved surfaces. On the attached site plan, the drying building is listed as number 90 and the 
silo is 91.  
  

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan recommends Institutional 
and Community Services for the subject property. This request and the underlying zoning 
classification are consistent with this recommendation. 
   
Review Agent Comments:  The proposed CUP application was sent to the City’s review agents.  
No comments have been submitted. 
 
Public Comments:  The attached notice was published on the City’s website, published in the 
local newspaper, and mailed to property owners within 150 feet of the site. No comments have 
been received.  
 
Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall 
make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 
a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be 

detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
 The proposed storage silo is not expected to generate significant noise, odor, or glare.  

b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in 
the immediate or vicinity for purposes already permitted; 
 The proposed silo is compatible with the adjacent M-2 zoned properties and industrial 

uses. 
c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood of the subject property; 
 The applicant’s improvements will not impact the surrounding property values. The site 

has substantial screening with berms and evergreens on all four sides. The biosolids silo 
is 84 feet and as such cannot be fully screened, but will be painted and is compatible 
with the overall M-2 zoned site. 

39



d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of the surrounding property; 
 The proposed storage silo will not impede nearby development. 

e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so 
dissimilar or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the 
immediate neighborhood that it will cause a depreciation in property values; 
 The proposed improvements are compatible with the site and will require site plan 

approval, architectural review, and building permits prior to starting construction.  
f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be 

available to serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 
 Adequate facilities and infrastructure are available and currently serve the property. 

g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  
 The proposed additional silo will not cause an increase in traffic congestion. 

h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 The proposed use will comply with all other applicable regulations. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit 
to allow construction of an 84-foot tall biosolids silo in a M-2, General Manufacturing District at 
the Water Pollution Control Facility (WPCF) located at 555 Willowbrook Road, based on the 
above Findings of Fact and subject to the following: 
  
Ordinance Requirements: 
The following provisions of existing City Ordinances shall apply: 

1. In accordance with Section 2-511 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have 
twelve (12) months from the date of CUP issuance to commence use of the property, or 
the CUP shall lapse and be of no further effect. 
 

Permit Conditions:  
1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes the construction of an 84-foot tall biosolid 

storage silo. 
 

ATTACHMENTS:  Resolution 2023-24, CUP Decision Form, City Council Resolution 2022-006, 
Location Map, Site Plan, Renderings, Application, Public Notice and Mailing List. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

40



 
RESOLUTION 2023-24 

 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
FOR AN 84-FOOT TALL BIOSOLIDS SILO AT 555 WILLOWBROOK ROAD  

 

WHEREAS, the application of the City of Beloit Water Resources Department for a Conditional 
Use Permit (CUP) to construct an 84-foot tall biosolids silo in a M-2, General Manufacturing District, for 
the property located at 555 Willowbrook Road have been considered by the Plan Commission of the City 
of Beloit, Wisconsin at a public hearing held for that purpose and due notice of said hearing having been 
given by publication as appears by the Proof of Publication in the City Clerk’s office; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, Rock County, 
WI does hereby approve a CUP to construct an 84-foot tall biosolids silo in a M-2, General 
Manufacturing District, and the location and architectural design of a new public building for the 
property located at 555 Willowbrook Road in the City of Beloit, based upon the substantial evidence 
described in the Findings of Fact and Conditional Use Decision Form for City Council which is attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference, for the following described premises: 
 

LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP AS RECORDED IN VOLUME 13 ON PAGES 268-270 OF 
THE CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS OF ROCK COUNTY, LOCATED IN THE CITY OF BELOIT, 
ROCK COUNTY, WISCONSIN (A/K/A 555 WILLOWBROOK ROAD).  SAID PARCEL 
CONTAINS 60.00 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

  

 As a condition of granting the Conditional Use Permit, the Plan Commission does hereby 
stipulate the following condition and restriction upon the Conditional Use, which is hereby deemed 
necessary for the public interest: 
 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes the construction of an 84-foot tall biosolid storage silo. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the applicant is formally advised of the following additional 
ordinance requirements and conditions: 
 
1. In accordance with Section 2-511 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have twelve (12) 

months from the date of CUP issuance to commence use of the property, or the CUP shall lapse 
and be of no further effect. 

 
Adopted this 21st day of June, 2023. 

PLAN COMMISSION 
 
  _ 
 Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Julie Christensen, 
Community Development Director 

41



Beloit Plan Commission CUP Decision Form 
 
When reviewing an application for a conditional use, the local government must look to the 
requirements and conditions found in the local zoning ordinance and determine if the applicant 
meets those requirements and conditions.  The local government must provide substantial 
evidence supporting their decision to grant or deny the permit, and to impose additional 
conditions on the permit.  Substantial evidence means facts and information, directly relating to 
the requirements and conditions, that a reasonable person would accept in support of a 
conclusion.  Personal preferences and speculation are not sufficient forms of evidence.  All 
requirements and conditions imposed by the local government must be reasonable, and to the 
extent practicable, measurable. 
 

Ordinance Requirements 
List ordinance requirements related to the conditional use permit: 
 

1. In accordance with Section 2-511 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have twelve 
(12) months from the date of CUP issuance to commence use of the property, or the CUP 
shall lapse and be of no further effect. 
Substantial Evidence: Standardized condition that reiterates the expiration date for unused 
CUP’s in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 

Permit Conditions 
A local government is authorized to impose conditions on the permit that relate to the purpose of 
the ordinance.  Conditions must be reasonable, and to the extent practicable, measurable.  
Conditions may limit the permit’s duration, transfer, or renewal. List conditions imposed on the 
permit:  
 

1. This Conditional Use Permit allows the construction of an 84-foot tall biosolids silo in an M-2, 
General Manufacturing zoning district located 555 Willowbrook Road. 

 Substantial Evidence:  Section 7.3 of the Zoning Ordinance states that the maximum 
height restrictions in a zoning district may be exceeded if reviewed and approved in 
accordance with the Conditional Use Permit review procedures, and this condition 
articulates that the proposed development standard is deemed appropriate at this 
location based on the Findings of Fact and ordinance requirements. 

 
 

Does the applicant meet all of the ordinance requirements?  No   Yes, after the steps 
above. 

42



43



44



Location Map – 555 Willowbrook Road 
 

45



46



Staff Report CU-2023-06, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 2nd meeting 
47



Staff Report CU-2023-06, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 2nd meeting 
48



Staff Report CU-2023-06, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 2nd meeting 
49



Staff Report CU-2023-06, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 2nd meeting 
50



Staff Report CU-2023-06, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 2nd meeting 
51



Staff Report CU-2023-06, 555 Willowbrook Rd, Silo height M-2 2nd meeting 

 

 

                  CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 

 
May 22, 2023 

 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
The City of Beloit Water Resources Department has applied for a Conditional Use Permit to allow construct an 
84-foot tall biosolids storage silo in a M-2, General Manufacturing District for the property located at: 

 
555 Willowbrook Road   

 
The following public hearings will be held regarding this proposed Conditional Use Permit: 
 
City Plan Commission:  Wednesday June 7, 2023, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter can be heard 
in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 
 
 

THE PUBLIC IS INVITED TO ATTEND THESE HEARINGS. 
 

We are interested in your opinion. 
  
Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring 10 copies and submit them to City 
staff before the meeting begins.   
 
You may also mail your comments to the attention of Hilary Rottmann at 100 State Street or via email to 
planning@beloitwi.gov. You may also call (608) 364-6708 to provide your comments over the phone.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

52

mailto:planning@beloitwi.gov


 

 

 
WILLOWBROOK STATELINE LLC 

525 THIRD ST SUITE 300 
BELOIT WI 53511 

 

    

 
HO-CHUNK NATION 

P O BOX 310 
BLACK RIVER FALLS WI 54615 

 
 

    

     

     

     

     

     

     

53



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  June 21, 2023 

Agenda Item:  4.a. 

File Number:  CSM-2023-12 

General Information 

Applicant:  R.H. Batterman and Co., Inc. 
Owner:  Jason Horner 
Address:  1957 S. McKinley Avenue/Parcel 6-2-584.4C, 6-2-584.5 
Jurisdiction: Town of Beloit
Applicant’s Request: One-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map (CSM) 

Staff Analysis 

Proposed Land Division: The intent of the proposed extraterritorial CSM is to combine the two 
lots into one. There is an existing single-family residence at 1957 S. McKinley Avenue on about 
9,125 square feet that will be combined with a larger 4.7-acre parcel to the north that spans 
between McKinley Avenue and unimproved Hackett Street.  That larger parcel also contains an 
existing roadway reservation (potential Moore Street extension) as described on the CSM, but 
no roadway is being dedicated or built at this time.  The proposed Lot 1 is 4.943 acres.  

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  The property is subject to Town zoning and is zoned R-1, 
Single-Family Residential District. The subject property is surrounded by Town R-1 zoning and 
residential uses. Additionally, to the east is City R-1A, Single-Family Residential District, and to 
the west across McKinley Avenue is City R-2, Two-Family Residential District. 

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land 
Use Map recommends Single-Family Residential-Urban uses for the subject property. However, 
land use cannot be considered when reviewing Extraterritorial CSM applications according to 
state law. 

Review Agent Comments:  Alliant Energy indicated there are no concerns with this CSM.  No 
other comments were received. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached one-lot 
Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map (CSM) for 1957 S. McKinley Avenue in the Town of Beloit, 
subject to the following condition: 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year 
of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

54



ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Certified Survey Map, Application and, Resolution. 

55



LOCATION MAP 

56



57



58



RESOLUTION 2023-028 

APPROVING A ONE-LOT EXTRATERRITORIAL CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP  
FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1957 S. MCKINLEY AVENUE IN THE TOWN OF BELOIT 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the 
City of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan 
Commission of the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor 
subdivision of land within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the attached one-lot Certified Survey Map for 1957 S. McKinley Avenue in 
the Town of Beloit, containing 4.943 acres, more or less, is located within the extraterritorial 
jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached 
one-lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

LOT 5 AND PART OF LOT 4 OF CAMPBELL'S CITY VIEW ACRES, BEING PART OF THE SE 1/4 
OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 22, T. 1 N., R. 12 E., OF THE 4TH P.M., ALSO BEING PART OF 
OUT-LOT 22, ASSESSOR'S PLAT OF THE TOWNSHIP OF BELOIT, ROCK COUNTY, 
WISCONSIN. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit 
does hereby conditionally approve the attached one-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map 
for 1957 S. McKinley Avenue in the Town of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one 
year of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

Adopted this 21st day of June, 2023. 

Plan Commission 

Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Julie Christensen, 
Community Development Director

59



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Meeting Date:  June 21, 2023 

Agenda Item:  4.b. 

File Number:  CSM-2023-13 

General Information 

Applicant:  R.H. Batterman and Co., Inc. 
Owner:  Jason Pankhurst 
Address:  1947 S. Paddock Road/Parcel 6-2-225 
Jurisdiction: Town of Beloit
Applicant’s Request: Two-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map (CSM) 

Staff Analysis 

Proposed Land Division: The intent of the proposed extraterritorial CSM is to subdivide the 
existing 4.495-acre lot located at 1947 S. Paddock Road into two lots to create an additional 
buildable lot.  The proposed Lot 1 is 1.495 acres.  The proposed Lot 2 is three acres, and includes 
an existing single-family residence.     

Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  The property is subject to Town zoning and is zoned A-2, 
General Agricultural District. The subject property is surrounded by Town A-2 zoning on the 
north, south and southeast across Paddock Road, and A-1, Farmland Preservation District zoning 
on the west and east. The minimum lot size in A-2 is three acres, and so the applicant’s intent is 
to rezone the proposed Lot 1 to R-1, Single Family Residential District.  The proposed Lot 1 also 
contains a wooded area in the northwest corner of the parcel.  This area is part of an existing 
drainage easement noted on the CSM. 

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land 
Use Map does not extend this far west. Regardless, land use cannot be considered when 
reviewing Extraterritorial CSM applications according to state law. 

Review Agent Comments:  Alliant Energy indicated they do not have utilities at this location.  No 
other comments were received. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the attached one-lot 
Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map (CSM) for 1947 S. Paddock Road in the Town of Beloit, 
subject to the following condition: 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one year 
of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

60



ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Certified Survey Map, Application and, Resolution. 

61



LOCATION MAP 

62



63



64



RESOLUTION 2023-029 

APPROVING A TWO-LOT EXTRATERRITORIAL CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP  
FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1947 S. PADDOCK ROAD IN THE TOWN OF BELOIT 

WHEREAS, Section 12.05(1)b of Chapter 12 of the Code of General Ordinances of the City 
of Beloit entitled “Subdivision and Official Map Ordinance” authorizes the City Plan Commission 
of the City of Beloit to approve, conditionally approve, or reject any minor subdivision of land 
within the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the attached two-lot Certified Survey Map for 1947 S. Paddock Road in the 
Town of Beloit, containing 4.495 acres, more or less, is located within the extraterritorial 
jurisdiction of the City of Beloit; and 

WHEREAS, the City Plan Commission of the City of Beloit has reviewed the attached two-
lot Certified Survey Map, which pertains to the following described land: 

LOT 1 OF C.S.M. DOCUMENT NO. 1463249, VOL. 23, PGS. 276-278, BEING PART OF THE 
SE 1/4 OF THE SE ¼ OF SECTION 19, T. 1 N., R 12 E. OF THE 4TH P.M., ALSO BEING PART 
OF OUTLOT 19-9 OF THE ASSESSORS PLAT OF BELOIT TOWNSHIP, ROCK COUNTY, 
WISCONSIN. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit does 
hereby conditionally approve the attached two-lot Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map for 1947 
S. Paddock Road in the Town of Beloit, subject to the following condition: 

1. The final CSM shall be recorded with the Rock County Register of Deeds within one 
year of approval and a copy provided to the Planning and Building Services Division. 

Adopted this 21st day of June, 2023. 

Plan Commission 

Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

ATTEST: 

Julie Christensen, 
Community Development Director

65


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2023-1715 - Attachment
	2023-1716 - Attachment
	2023-1719 - Attachment
	2023-1724 - Attachment
	2023-1717 - Attachment
	2023-1718 - Attachment

